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I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On September 24, 2007, the United States Environmental Protection Agency Region IX 
("Complainant" or "EPA") fil ed a ten-count Complaint against Val imet, Inc. ("Val imet" or 
" Respondent") alleging violations of Section 313 of the Emergency Response and Community 
Right-to-Know Act ("EPCRA" or " the Act"), 42 U.S.C. § I 1023, and its implementing 
regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 372. Specifically, the Complaint charges Va limct with failing to 
timely file with EPA the requisite toxic chemical release forms ("Form Rs") reporting the 
quantit ies of aluminum and copper compounds that it processed during the calendar years 2001 
through 2005. R espondent filed its Answer to the Complaint on December 13, 2007, admitting 
that it processed each of these toxic substances in excess of the reporting threshold of 25,000 
pounds during those five years and that it did not fil e the Form Rs, while rai sing numerous 
affirmative defenses to liability and penalty. Thereafter, the parties filed their prehearing 
exchanges. ln its Prehearing Exchange, Complai nt proposed the assessment of a $249,186 
penalty for the ten counts of violation alleged in the Complaint. 

On September 16, 2008, the parties filed a Joint Set of Stipulated Facts, Exhibits, and 
Testimony indicating, inter alia, that "the parties hereby stipulate to Respondent's li ability for the 
violations, and agree that the hearing held in this matter will pertain only to the proper amount of 
the penalty to be assessed against Respondent." Subsequently, Complainant moved, inter aLia, 
for accelerated decision as to Respondent 's liabi lity on the ten counts o f violation alleged in the 
Complaint. Respondent fil ed a non-oppos ition to the motion stating it "agrees that there are no 
genuine issues of material fact rel ated to the elements o f violation as set fo rth in Complai nant's 
memorandum." By Order dated November 6, 2008, Complainant 's moti on was granted. 

. A hearing was held on December 9-11, 2008 in Sacramento, California on the issue of the 
appropriate penalty to be assessed for the violations. 1 Complainant presen ted the tes ti mony of 
six witnesses at hearing: Russell Frazer, Robert Lucas, Mary Wolf, Fletcher Clover, Richard 
Ross, and Jonathan Shefftz. Respondent presented two witnesses' testimony at hearing : Dav id 
Oberholtzer and James W. Embree, Ph.D. In addition, during the heari ng, sixty-four documents 
previously marked as Complai nant's exhibits 1-18, 21-22, 26-64 and Respondent 's exhibits 7, 
15-17, 20, were offered by Complainant and admitted into evidence. Tr. 663. Ni neteen 
do.cuments previously identified as Respondent' s exhibits 2, 5, 6, 8-13, 18, 26, 27, 29-34 and 
Complainant' s exh ibit 19 were offered by Respondent and admitted into cvidence.2 Tr. 663. At 
Complainant' s request the parties' Joint Set of Stipulations, elated September 16, 2008, were also 
admitted into evidence (ci ted hereinafter as "Stip. _"). Tr. 40. 

1 T he transcript of the hearing, received by the unders igned on February 23, 2009, consists of 
three volumes (one for each day of hearing) with consecutively numbered pages. Citations to the 
transcript will be in the fo llowing form: "Tr. _ ." 

2 For the sake of clarity and continuity, the admitted exhibits will be cited using thei r o riginal 
party identi fi cation and number (i.e. as either "C's Ex . _"or "R 'sEx . _"), regardless of wh ich · 
party moved the exhibit into evidence at hearing. 
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Complainant filed its Initial Post-Hearing Brief (C's Brief) in this case on April 23, 2009. 
Respondent submit ted its ini tial Post-Hearing Brief (R's Brief) on April 24, 2009. Complainant 
filed its Reply to Respondent's Brief (C's Reply Brief) on May 14, 2009, and Respondent 
submitted its Repl y Brief on May 14, 2009, upon filing of which the record closed. 

II. FACTUALBACKGROUND 

Respondent Valimet, Inc. is a Delaware corporation, which has been in business since 
1964. Stips. 1-2; Tr. 429; C's Ex. 13; R 'sEx. 7. The company owns and operates a facil ity at 
431 Sperry Road in Stockton, Cal ifornia, in which it manufacturers finely divided metal powders 
such as aluminum, alum inum alloy, and copper alloy powder. Stips. 3-5, 12; Tr. 428-29; C's 
Exs. I, II, 12, 22; R's Ex. 7. Such powders are used in the manufacture of nun:wrous products 
including pigments, coatings, printing inks, refractory materials, insulating materia ls, thermal . 
management devices, electric conductive materials, electromagnetic shielding, powder 
metallurgy parts, sol id rocket fuel, decoy fl ares and other military equipnient. Stip. 4; Tr. 429-
30, 146, 156-57; C's Exs. 1, 11; R's Ex. 7. Valimet produces the powders utilizing a closed 
loop, inert atomization process invo lving the ejection of hot molten metal through a spray nozzle 
into a chamber filled primarily with either helium or argon gas, creating minute droplets which 
solidify into discrete spherical particles. Tr. 430-31, 148; C's Exs. I, 11; R's Ex. 7. The solid 
metal parti cle~ arc then removed from the gas stream by a series of cyclone separators and 
discharged into containers, while the gas is recycled back in to the system. ld. Next, the parti cles 
are sized and separated via sieves and screens or a centrifuge system containing nitrogen gas. 
C's Ex. 1; 148-49. At the end of the process, the company blends the metal particles together as 
necessary to meet customer product spcci (ications and packs the powder for storage and/or 
shipment. Tr. 430, 149; C's Ex. ll. In 2007, Valimet's operations, using the equivalent of 53.5 
ful l-time employees, resulted in gross sales of approximately $18.5 million dollars. Stips. ,1,142-
44; R's Ex. 11. 

As a result of its manufacturing process, Valimet is subject to the requirements of 
EPCRA and from 1990 through 2000, it timely filed with EPA its Form Rs thereunder, reporting 
inter alia the quantity of aluminum fume or dust (i.e. powder) it manufactured, processed or 
otherwise used during those calendar years. R's Ex. 13 , C's Ex. 1; Tr. 145-147, 160, 535. 
However, it ceased making such routine filings in 200 I . ld. Consequently, it thereafter became a 
"target of interest" to EPA, and on Apri l 22, 2004, two EPA inspectors, Karen Vitulano and 
Robert Lucas, conducted an EPCRA compliance inspection of the company. C's Ex. 3; Tr. 147-
48. During the inspection, David Oberholtzer, Valimct's Director of Corporate Services, 
provided Ms. Vitulano and Mr. Lucas with a tour of the facility and information in regard 
thereto. C's Exs. 1, 3; Tr. 148-49, 485~ 534-35; R's Ex. 7. Included among the data conveyed by 
Mr. Oberholtzer to the inspectors was that Respondent processed about 3.5 million pounds of 
aluminum per year, and that the throughput of aluminum is I 000 pounds per hour in the 
aluminum powder manufacturing unit. Tr. 150; C's Ex. 1. Nevertheless, Mr. Oberholtzer 
indicated to the inspectors that he could not state with certainty the total quantity of aluminum · 
dust (i.e. powder) produced each year without prior review of company records. Therefore, at the 
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conclusion of the inspection, EPA requested, and Mr. Oberholtzer agreed to provide, on or before 
May 19, 2004, "threshold calculations" indicating the quantities of aluminum and zinc powders, 
as well as copper and nickel in any form, that Valimct manufactured, processed or otherwise 
used in ca lendar years 2000 through 2002. Tr. 150-52, 486, C's Exs. 1, 3. On its end, in 
response to Mr. Oberholtzer's inquiries, EPA agreed to provide Valimet with guidance as to 
whether there is a reporting exemption as to the de minimus level of lead in aluminum alloys and 
the method for reporting a "not detected" test resu lt for mercury. C's Exs. 1, 3; Tr. 155-56, 160-
64, 486-89. 

During the following two years; Mr. Oberholtzer, Valimet's "one-man environmental 
shop," was engrossed in handling other pressing business matters and, as a result, he neither 
provided EPA with the requested threshold calculations nor fi led any of the previously or 
subsequently due Form Rs. Tr. 95, 158, 164, 465-67, 520, 603 -05. Coincidental ly, during that 
same time period, EPA was otherwise engaged and thus it did not further prompt Valimet 
regarding submitting the threshold calc-ulations or form Rs. C's Ex. 43, 55; Tr. 491. In August 
2006, however, EPA's Mary Wolf left a telephone message for Mr. Oberholtzer regarding the 
missing data and, hearing noth ing, followed up with a telephone conference. C's Ex. 43, 55; Tr. 
172-173,497. During that conversation, Mr. Oberholtzer agreed that by September 29, 2006, he 
would provide EPA with threshold calculations covering all the intervening years through 2005, 
and Ms. Wolf agreed· to send Valimet blank Form R forms for completion and fi ling. Jd.; Tr. 
173-74. On August 30, 2006 Ms. Wol [mailed the forms and instructions to Mr. Oberholtzer, 
simultaneously advis ing of the posl:ing by e-mail. Tr. 174. 

Approximately two months later, on or about October 26, 2006, Valimet provided its 
threshold calculations to EPA. C's Ex. 17, 55; Tr. 68, 175,498-500. Mr. Oberholtzer test ified 
that before he submitted them, he "did have some questions particu larly related to copper which 
[he] did get answers to, but it took a little whil e .... " Tr. 498-99. Those calculations evidenced 
that in each of the five calendar years from 200 I through 2005, Val imet manufactured, processed 
or otherwise used alun1inum (fume or dust) and copper compounds in excess of the 25,000 
pound EPCRA reporting threshold. Tr. 176. Specifically, Respondent represented to EPA that 
in 2001 it manu f'actu recl 4,316,000 pounds of aluminum dust and 52,583 pounds of copper 
compounds; that in 2002 it manufactured 4,125,000 pounds of a~uminum dust and 60,000 pounds 
of copper compound; that in 2003 it manufactured 3,? 10,000 pounds of aluminum dust and 
60,000 pounds o r copper compound; that in 2004 it manu factured 4,884,000 lbs of aluminum 
dust and 52,700 lbs of copper compound at its facil ity; and that in 2005 it manufactured 
2,985,000 pounds of aluminum dust and 62,400 pounds of copper compound at its facility. Slip. 
,1,115-24. 

Mr. Oberholtzer test ified at heari ng that after submitting the threshold calculations to 
EPA, he started preparing the company's missing fQrm Rs for submission. Tr. 500. Cognizant 
of the fact that desp ite the passage of time, such forms had not yet been fil ed, in early November 
and early December 2006, and then again in early January 2007, Ms. Wolf telephoned Val imcl 
and either len a message or spoke to Mr. Oberholtzer attempting to prompt compliance. C's Exs. 
43, 55; Tr. 176-77. Such attempts being unsuccessful, three months later, on April 10, 2007, Ms. 
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Wolrs supervisor, Nancy Sockabasi n contacted the company by telephone once again. C's Ex. 
55; Tr. 178. Apparentl y unsati sfied with the companY's response, the very next day, on Apri l 11 , 
2007, EPA issued a written noti ce of its intent to ini tiate an EPCRA enforcement action aga inst 
Yalimet based upon the miss ing Forms Rs. C's Exs. 2, 55; Tr. 500-01. 

-About two weeks later, on or about Apri l 25, 2007, Yalimct fil ed its missing form Rs for 
200 1 through 2005. Stip. ~ 38; C's Ex. 10, 14-1 6, 55; R's Ex. 13; Tr. 68-69, 126,500-01. EPA 
subsequen tl y entered the information Yal imet provided to it on the f orm Rs into its publicly 
accessible Taxies Release Inventory (TRJ) database. C's Exs. 15, 16; R 's Ex. 30. Thereafter, 
Yalimet timely fil ed its Form Rs fo r 2006 and 2007. C's Ex. 32; R' s Ex. 13; Tr. 521, 136-37. 

On September 24, 2007, EPA filed this ten count administrative penalty action against 
Valimet under EPCRA Section 313(a) for its fai lure to timely fil e its f orm Rs for 2001 through 
2005.3 C's Ex. 55. 

III . STATUTORY J>RO VTSIONS, REGULATIONS AND PENALTY J>OLlCJES 

A. Statutory Provisions 

EPCRA Section 313(a) provides that: 

(a) Basic requi rement. The owner or operator of a facility subject to the 
requirements of this section shall complete a toxic chemical release form as 
published under subsection (g) for each toxic chemical listed under subsection (c) 
that was manufactured, processed, or otherwise used in quantities exceeding the 
tox ic chemical threshold quantity establ ished by subsection (f) during the 
preceding ca lendar year at such i~1ci lity. Such form shal l be submitted to the 
Administrator and to an official or officials of the State des ignated by the 
Governor on or before July 1, 1988, and annually thereafter on July I and shall 
contain data reflecti ng releases during the preceding calendar year. 

42 U.S.C. § II 023(a).4 See also, 40 C.F.R. § 372.30(a). 

3 The action was timely fil ed as the parties had entered into a toll ing agreement on June 27, 2007. 
C's Ex. 5. 

4 In order to fall under the purview of EPCRA Section 313, a facility must have ten or 
more fu ll-time employees, fall within Standard Industrial Classification Codes 20 through 39, 
and have manufactured, processed or used more than the th reshold amount o f a toxic chemical 
listed in 40 C.F.R. § 37 1.65 during the relevant year. EPCRA § 3 13(b)(l)(A), 42 U.S.C. § 
11 023(b)(l )(/\) ; 40 c.r.R. § 372.30. The threshold amount of aluminum (fume or dust) and 
copper compounds triggering the reporting requirements under EPCRA § 3 13 is 25,000 pounds. 

(continued ... ) 
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EPCRA § 325(c)( l ) prov ides that any person vio lating EPCRA § 3 13 "shall be liable to 
the United States fo r a civil penalty in an amount not to exceed $25,000 for each such 
violation,"5 but neglects to furn ish cri teria to gu ide the assessment of civil penalties under that 
provision. 42 U.S.C. § 11 045(c)(l). As a !'esult, the penalty cr iteria relating to violations of 
EPCRA § 304, the emergency noti fication provisions, which are set forth in EPCRA § 325(b), 42 
U.S.C. § 11045(b)(l)(c), have been relied upon to guide administrative penalty assessments for 
Scction 3 13 vio lations. See e.g., Catalina Yachts , Inc.,, 8 E.A.D. 199 n. 7, 1999 EPA App. 
LEXIS 7 (EAI3 1999); Trinity Industries, Inc., EPA Docket No. EPCRA-6-99-006, 2002 EPA 
AU LEXIS 26 *40 (ALJ 2002), Gilbert Martin Woodworking Co., EPA Docket No. EPCRA 09-
99-00 16,2001 EPA AL.T LEXIS 27 *28 (ALJ 2001), Steeliech, Ltd., EPA Docket No. EPCRA-
037o94, 1998 EPA ALJ LEXIS 35 * 16 (ALJ 1998), aff'd, 8 E.A.D. 577, 1999 EPA App. LEXIS 
25 (EAB 1999). EPCRA § 325(b) establishes two classes of administrative penalties for 
violations of EPCRA § 304. Class I violations carry a maximum penalty of $25,000 per . 
violation, and Class TI violations carry a maximum penalty of $25,000 for each day the violation 
continues. 42 U.S.C. §§ 11 045(b)(l )(A), (b)(2)(A). 

In determining the appropri ate penalty for a Class I violation o f Section 304, EPCRA 
§ 325(b )( 1 )(C) directs consideration of the "natur:e, circumstances, extent and gntvity of the 
violation or violations and, with respect to the violator, ab ili ty to pay, any prior history of such 
vjolations, the degree of culpabi li ty, economic benefit or savings (if any) resulting from the 
violation, and such other matters as jtistice may require. 42 U.S.C. § 1 l045(b)(1 )(C). In 
determining the appropriate penalty for a Class II violation of Section 304, EPCRA § 325(b)(2), 
directs the use of the facto rs enumerated in Section 16 of the Toxic Substances Control Act 
("TSCA "), 15 U.S. C: § 1615 . The factors I i steel under TSCA § I 6 are identical to those found 
under EPCRA § 325(b)(l )(C) for Class I violations except that the former includes consideration 
of the effect of the penalty on the violator's ab il ity to continue to do business (rather than "ability 

\ .. continued) 
40 C.F.R. § 372.25(a). 

5 As adjusted pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties In-flation Adjustment Act of 1990 (28 U.S.C. 
§ 24.61 ), as amended by the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996 (3 1 U.S.C. § 370 1), the 
maximum civil penal ty recoverable under EPCRA § 313 for violat ions that occurred "between 
January 30, 1997 and March 15, 2004," is $27,500, and for those occurring."after March 15, 
2004" is $32,500. See 40 C.F.R. Part 19. In addition, EPCRA § 325(c)(3) provides that "[e]ach 
day a violation [under EPCRA § 3 12] ... col1tinues shall . .. constitute a separate violation." 42 
U.S.C. § 11 045(c)(3). Pursuant thereto, it has been held that EPA has the statutory autho'rity to 
assess multi-day penalties fo r violating the annual reporting requ iremen t of EPCRA for up to one 
year after the reporti ng deadline. See, Loes Enterprises, Inc., Docket no. EPCRA-05-2005-0018, 
2006 EPA AU LEXIS 39 *34 (ALJ 2006). Thus, in th is case, the Agency could have sought up 
to $32,500 for each day the violations alleged in the six counts relating to fili ngs fo r the 2003-
2006 calendar years conti nued and up to $27,500 for each day the other four violations i·elating 
to fi lings for previous calendar years continued. 
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to pay") and omits inquiry into the violator' s economic benefit or savings.6 15 U.S.C. § 1615. 
\ 

Further, the Environmental Appeals I3oard ("EAI3") has consistently held; pursuant to 
Section 22.24 of the Rules of Practi ce (40 C.f.R. § 22.24), that in every case, EPA bears the 
burden of proving that the proposed penalty is appropriate after considering al l the "applicable 
statutory penalty factors." See, e.g., B.J. Carney Industries, Inc., 7 E. A.D. 17 1, 217 (EAB 1997); 
Employers InsuraJLCe of Wausau and Group Eight Technology, Inc., 6 E.J\.D. 735, 756 (EJ\I3 
1997); Jam.es C. Un, 5 E.A.D. 595, 599 (EAB 1 994); New Waterbury, Ltd., 5 E.J\..D. 529, 538 
(EAB 1994). Where, as in th is case, there are no "appl icable statutory penal ty factors," the EAI3 
has held that EPA must alternati vely prove that the proposed "penalty is appropriate in light of 
the particular facts and circumstances of the case." Woodcrest Mam-!facturing, Inc., 7 E.A.D. 
757, 773-774 (EAI3 1998)(emphasis removed)( citation omitted). The standard of proof required 
is a "preponderance of the evidence." 40 C.F.R. § 22.24(b). 

B. Penalty Assessment 

Section 22.27(b) of the Consolidated Rules of Practice that govcrn .this proceeding 
provides in pertinent part that: 

... the Presiding Officer shall determine the do llar amount of the recommended 
civil penalty to be assessed in the initial decision in accordance with any criteri a 
set forth in the Act relating to the proper amount of a civil penalty, and must 
consider any civil penalty guidelines issued under the Act. 

40 C.f.R. § 22.27(b)(emphasis added). 

The Rules further provide that deviations from the amount o f penalty recommended to be 
assessed in the complaint be accompanied by specific reasons therefor. See, Rule 22.27(b)(40 
C.F.R. §22.27(b)) . 

In August of 1992, EPA issued an Enforcement Response Policy ("ERP") for EPCHJ\ § 
3 I 3, which it has thrice amended. C's Ex. 6; R 's Ex. 12.7 The. stated purpose o f the ERP is to 
"ensure that enforcement actions for violations of EPCRA § 313 ... arc arrived at in a fair, 
uniform and consistent manner; that the enforcement response is appropriate fo r the violation 
committed; and that persons will be deterred from committing EPCRA § 3 13 violations . ... " 
C's Ex. 6 p. I . 

The ERP utilizes a matri x and/or a per-day formula to determine a "gravity-based" 
penalty accounting for a violations particular "Extent Level"and "Circt.1mstancc Level." Under 

6 "Ability to pay" and "ability to continue in business" arc analogous concepts and the same 
evidentiary burdens apply. Com.mercial Cartage Co. , 7 E.A.D. 784, 807 (EJ\ B 1998). 

7 C's Ex. 6 and R's Ex. 12 are both copies of the ERP . 
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the ERP the Extent Level of a violation is determined by looking at the size of the violator's 
business, as evidenced by total sales and number of employees, and the quantity of the subject 
chemical used. C's Ex. 6 pp. 8-1 0.; C's Ex. 56; Tr. 73. The Circumstance Level for a fai lure to 
timely file a Form R violation is determined by the "category" of the violation. A Category f 
Form R violation, one in which the Form R is not submitted until one year or more after the clue 
elate, is classi fled as a "Ci rcumstance Level 1" violation. Category I, Circumstance Level I 
gravity-based penalties are calculated by plotting the circumstance and extent levels on a matri x 
provided in the ERP. C's Ex. 6 p. 11; C's Ex . 56. A Category II violation is one in which the 
Form R is submitted less than J year after the due date and is classified as a "Circumstance Level 
4" violation. Category II, Circumstance Level 4 gravity-based penalties are calculated fo llowing a 
per-day formula provided in the ERP. C's Ex . 6 pp. 13-14; C's Ex. 56. After a gravity-based 
penalty amount is detennined, the ERP provides for upward or downward adjustments to the 
penalty based on other factors such as voluntary disClosure, hi sto ry of prior \1iolations, delisted 
chemicals, attitude, other factors as justice may require, and the violator's abi lity to pay. C's Ex .. 
6 pp. 14-20. 

Nevertheless, it is important to n.ote that the Administrat ive Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. 
§§551-559, which also governs this proceeding, provides that penalty guidelines issued by the 
Agency without the benefit of notice and comment are not to be unquestionably applied as if they 
were a rule \vith "binding effect." See, Employers Ins. a_{ Wausau, 6 E.A.D. 735,755-762 (EAD 
1997). Thus, in setting the penalty, this Tribunal has "the discretion either to adopt the rationa le 
of an appl icab le penally policy where appropriate or to deviate from it where circumstances 
warrant." DJC Americas, Inc., 6 E. A.D. 184, 189 (EAB 199.5). 

IV. DISCUSSION 

Russel l frazer, an Environmental Protection Specialist in the Toxics Office at EPA 
Region IX, testified at the hearing as to Complainant's calculation of its proposed penalty using 
the ERP methodology. Tr. 42, 69-70; C's Ex. 57. In further support thereof, Complai nant also 
presented the expert testimony of Richard Ross, along with hi s report, on ignitabi lity, 
Oammabil ity, reactivity and explosivity of materials, .specifically as to the ri sk of harm presented 
by aluminum dust. C's Ex. 52. With regard to the financial issues bearing on the penalty, 
Compl ai nant !)resented evidence from Jonathon Shefftz, a financial expert. 

In its case, Respondent presented at hearing the testimony of James W. Embree, an expert 
toxicologist, as to the toxicity of aluminum dust, and Mr. Oberholtzer, \vho testi !'icc! as to 
Respondent's facility and operations, and the ci rcumstances surrounding the violations. 

A . Extent Level of Violations 

Under the ERP, EPCRA violations are designated as one of three Extent Levels - 1\, 13 or 
C, in descending order of magnitude. Exten t Level A is assigned to facil iti es which annually use 
ten times or more of the threshold amount of the chemical at issue, have more than $10 million in 
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total corpora te sales, and 50 or more employees. Extent Level B is assigned to faci lities which 
use ten times o r more of the threshold amount o f the chemical but do not meet the numerica l 
criteria for sa les and employees, or wh ich use less than ten times the threshold amount bu t have 
more than $ 10 m il lion in sales and 50 employees or more. Extent Level Cis assigned to 
facil ities which use less than ten times the threshold amount but have neither 50 employees or 
$10 mil lion in sales. 

1. Complainant's CalCulation 

In regard to determi ning the Extent Level, which takes into account the quantity of 
chemical unreported and the size of the violator 's business, M r. Frazer noted preliminari ly that 
the EPCRA reporting threshold for both a luminum (fume or dust) a11d copper compounds is 
25 ,000 pounds. T r. 79. Based upon the form Rs eventually S1Jbmitled by Va limet, he then · 
determined that the company had processed in each calendar year from 2001 through 2005 mor? 
than ten tintes the reporting threshold for aluminum and less than ten ti!11-es the reporting 
threshold for co pper compounds. Tr. 79-8 1. Mr. Frazer further conclucl ecl fl·om financial records 
on the company that Valimet had more than 50 employees and more than $ 10 m ill ion dollars in 
sales. Tr. 82. Based upon these facto rs, following the ERP, he then classified each of the li ve 
a luminum vio lations (Counts 1, 3, 5, 7 and 9) as being within "Extent Level A," and each of the 
v iolations perta ining . to copper compounds (Courits 2, 4, 6, 8 and 1 0) as fa lling within "Extent 
Level B." Tr. 79-80, 83-85; C's Ex. 57. 

2. I~cspondent's Argumen ts and Evidence 

As to the size of business factor, Respondent argues that it should be considered a "small" 
business cons istent with EPA ' s "Small Business Compliance Policy," \;\lhi ch classifies 
co-mpanies with fewer than 100 employees as smal l, rat her than being treated under the ERP in 
effect as a " large" business because it has 50 or more employees. R 's Brie f at 2, II ; R 's Ex. 31 
(EPA brochme "Opening Doors for America's Small Businesses"). In further support thereof', 
Valim et notes that the ERP's threshold number of50 employees has not been amended in 17 
years, si nce the ERP was fi rst pub! ished in 1992, and that Mr. frazer testi fi ed that EPA is 
presently discussing revising the ERP to reflect small businesses as those with less than l 00 
employees in order to be congruent wi th the Small Business Compliance Policy. R's I3riefat 13; 
Tr. 134-35. Such process of change, Val imct arg11es, evidences that the ERP's exist ing definition 
of a smal l business is "essentially obsolete," and that the definition set forth wit hi n the Small 
Business Compliance Policy is of broader app lication than the ERP. R 's Reply at 4. 
Addit ionally, Respondent asserts, the Small Business Compliance Pol icy provides that the 
number of employees, rather than annua l sales, is the .factor thatdistingu ishes large from small 
businesses. Id 

Addi tionally, Yalimct suggests that its compliance problem - an overburdened one-person 
compli ance staff, inadequate management and Jack of Lime- is exactly the type of situation wh ich 
EPA's small busi ness policies are meant to address. R's I3 rief at 11-13, citing toR's Ex. 3 l . 
Moreover, Valimet urges, there is precedent for treati ng an entity just over the 50 employee 
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threshold as a small business, citing as authority therefor Hall Signs, Tn c., EPA Docket No. 5-
EPCRA-96-026 (ALJ, Oct. 30, 1997), (.?ff'd, EPA App. LEXIS 11 3 (EAB, Dec. 16, 1998). Jt 
f"lt rther notes in this regard that EPA Region 9 did not provide it with compliance assistance or 
provide small bus inesses with any outreach. R' s Bt'icf at 13. 

As to the quantiti es of chemicals involved in the violations, Respondent argues that the 
amount of reLeases from a facility is more relevant than the amount of material used at the 
facility. R's Reply at 3. Respondent suggests that Section 313 of EPCRA, concerned wi th 

· releases of chemicals and curtailing releases through publicity from reporting them, does not 
provide a basis fo r the EI<P's approach of assessing the extent of a vio lation by the amount of 
substance used at the facility. !d. 

3. Complainant's Arguments and Evidence 

Complainan t argues that the ERP's highest Extent Level is \varrantcd here for the five 
aluminum violations because the amount of aluminum dust Valimet processed each year great ly 
exceeded lOO times the regulatory threshold of25,000 pounsls and Respondent had over $18.5 
million in total sa les in 2007. C's Brief at 18- 19. For determining a penal ty 's deterrence value, a 
company's revenues is a more signi ficant indicator than the number of employees, which only 
marginally refl ects a company's economic activity, Mr. Shcfftz claimed. Tr. 371-72. He furth er 
argued that a l-arger penal ty is needed to deter a larger business against future violations, and the 
ratio of sales to number of employees may indicate that Valimet is more profit able than if it 
employed more workers, i.e that it is maximizing its profits by controlling its number of 
employees. C's Brief at 19-20; Tr. 3 71-73 . 

Complainant further asserts tha t the Agency's Small Business Compliance Policy, 65 
f eel. Reg. 19630 (April 11, 2000), addresses only voluntary disclosure of violations and thus is 
inappl icable here. further, it notes that the Small Business Poli cy does expressly extend its 
dciinition of a "small business" into any other Agency policy documen ts, that the ERP has not 
yet been forma ll y revised, and that no reduction in a penalty can be made until the ERP is 
actually revised, because to do so wot:tld place Valimct un i~1 irly in a better pos ition than other 
similarly situated violators. Complainant 's Reply Brief ("C's Reply") at 3-5. Moreover, 
Complaitiant asserts that HaL! Signs does not support Respondent' s pos ition because in that case, 
the penalty was reduced on the basis that the amount of sa les,. not employees, was close to the 
ERP 's I 0 million dollar threshold, and only the quanti ty of" chemical was used to ca lculate the 
extent oflhe violation. Complainant emphasizes that Valimet processed far more than the 
threshold amount of the chemical and clearly exceeded the sa les threshold, which it reiterates arc 
more reliable indicators of extent than the number of employees. C's Reply at 5-7. Finally, 
Complainant exclaims that any lack of compliance assistance outreach on its part is irrelevant 
here because Respondent had actual knowledge of its reporti ng requirements as a result oC its 
prior compliance therewi th , and EPA Region IX did provide EPCRA 313 compliance assistance 
outreach through 2005, during the time when most or all of the violations at issue here occurred. 
C's Reply at 8, citing Tr. 116. 
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4. Find ings and Conclusions as to the Extent Level of the V iolations 

TZespondent's v io lations regarding aluminum dust fi t squarely within the Ex tent Level A 
criteria. Its fu ll -time employee equivalent of 53.5 em ployees is clcar1y w ith in the category of 50 
employees or more, and its corporate sales of $18.5 m illion clearly exceed the $ 1 0 mi II ion 
threshold. Furthermore, it is uncon tested that during the yea rs at issue, Val imet processed more 
than 10 times the ERP Extent Level threshold of250,000 pounds, or more than 100 times the 
EPCRA § 313 reporting th reshold . T r. 79-81; C's Exs. 14-1 7; Slips , 1,] 15-24. 

The question of w hether the slight exceedancc over the threshold for number of 
. I 

employees is suf1icicnt to place Respondent in Extent Level B for the violations regarding . 
a luminum and Extent Level C for those concerning copper compounds may be considered by 
comparing the range of facil ities encompassed within each Extent Level, and determining which 
best fi ts Valimet 's circumstances. Extent Level B encompasses those f'acilities which use zero ,to 
less than ·10 times the threshold amount of the chemical but have over 10 mil lion in sa les and 50 
employees, and those facil ities wh ich use more than ten times the threshold amount but which 
have 0-$10 million in sales and 0-50 employees. Ex tent Level C covers facilities with less than 

·ten limes the chemical thresho ld amount, less than $10 million in sales, fewer than 50 employees. 
As such, Valimet's situation is simp ly not comparable to such facili ties, and therefore, under the 
ERP, Extent Level A is the appropriate level fo r Valimet's vio lations regardi ng aluminum dust, 
and Extent Level B is the appropri~te level for the violations concerning copper compounds. 

Furthermore, wh ile it is true that the Agency's Smal l Business Compliance Policy 
describes a small business as having less than 100 employees, this fact does not compel a fi nd ing 
that Valimet should be assessed a lower Extent Level under the EPCRA ER.P. T he purpose of a . . 

parti cular policy being appl ied ·aff'ects which criterion - number of employees, annual sales, or 
ari1ounl of chemical at issue - i ~ most determinative of a "smal l" business. For penalty purposes, 
deterrence is the primary goal, and therefore the number of employees is not the most 
determinative criterion. As Mr. Sheff'tz tes t i fi ~d -

For a deterrent effect, since the idea is that the larger a company is, the higher 
penalty wi ll be needed to have a deterrent e f'fect, that needs to be compared to a 
measurt2 of the finances fot' the company .. · .. By contrast, compari ng the penal ty 
size to the number of employees really just doesn't have any resonance wi th 
regard to dctcnence. Just because a company has more em ployees, it doesn't 
mean tha t a higher penalty is going to be needed to have an impact on the 
company. 

Tr. 378. Mr. Shefftz noted that "other size facto rs" are controlling for other purposes such as "to 
determine whether a company is even subject to a regulation in the first place." Tr. 372. He also 
mentioned that in some industries the number of employees may even decrease over time as 
production becomes increasingly mechanized. Tr. 375-376. A highly mechanized factory with 
50 employees but which handles very large volumes of toxic chemicals and has a sales volume 
many times more than $10 million does not warrant a smal ler pena lty than a facil ity with the 
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same violations but with many more employees who are marrua lly operating the equipment, and 
barely more·than $10 mi ll ion in sales volume and just over ten times the threshold fo r the 
chemical, particularly where the highly mechanized faci li ty may be more profi table and in a 
better posi tion than the other fac ility to retai n someone to prepare its rorm Rs. 

In add ition, the fact that EPA is or may be cons idering amend ing the number of 
employees in the Extent Level Cri teria in the ERP does not weigh in favor of reducing the 
penalty for the Extent factor in th is case. The status of any such consideration is unknown, and 
any conditions or .other changes associated with any amendment to the number of employees is 
unknown. No assumption that the El~P will be amended, and that such amendment will simply 
stibstilute the threshold of 50 employees with a threshold of 100 employees, can be made or 
applied to this case. 

It is further determined that the other factual evidence Valimet proffers in support of its. 
attempt to cloak itsel f as only a small business is unconvincing. Such evidence consists 
primarily of the fact that it placed its EPCRA compliance in the hands of one overworked 
employee, Mr. Oberholtzer, who had many other responsibi lit ies. Specifically, Mr. Oberho ltzer 
testified that as Val imet' s Director of Corporate Services, he has a "wide ra nge of duties" which 
include basic responsibi lity for federal, state and local compliance issues and report ing, ht1man 
resource functions, labor relations, training, the ISO 9000 quality system and the qua lity 
management function in genera l. Tr. 426-427, 465-468. He procla imed t,hat his "uninterrupted 
time [is] at a premium" and that he has "very little time at all ," and that he has many demands on 
hi s time in the office. Tr. 497, 603-604. 

In regard thereto, however, it must be noted that at no point did Val imet show or even 
attempt to show that its business was so small that it was not ~easib l e for it to hi re or assign 
another employee or contractor to perform or assist in the performance of its compl iance 
responsibilities under EPCRA. 1n fact, at best the evidence in the record is rather murky in 
regard to Respondent's claim that its staff resources were limited . On the one hand, Mr. 
Oberholtzer stated that Valimet's employees are "very heavily weighed toward production and 
main tenance," that "[s]taff personnel is quite limi ted, by necessity, i C nothing else" and that ''we 
do the best we can." Tr. 523. I-Ie f·urther claimed that vvhcn he occasiona ll y ment ioned to 
Valimet's pres ident, Mr. Campbel l, that he needed help to complete all the tasks assigned to him, 
such help was not provided. Tr. 605 . On the other hand, after the Complaint was fi led , the 
company did provide work relief to Mr. Oberholtzer, in that it reassigned an existing employee to 
fi ll its newly created position ofi-Iealth , Safety and Ht1man Resources Analyst, whose duties 
i1iclude maintain ing :files and records, ensuring compliance with government reporting, and 
develop ing and maintaining an annua l calendar to assist in compliance activities related to local, 
state and fedei·al fi ling requirements. R's Ex. 5; Tr. 521 -522. Thus, the record suggests that 
while Val imet was aware of the need to al locate more resources to assist Mr. Oberhol tzer to, 
among other things, fulfi ll the company's federal fi ling responsi bilities under EPCRA, in an 
attempt to min imize its overhead costs, it chose not to al locate its resources in such manner and 
risk noncompliance with EPCRA and possib ly its other envi ronmental obligations. J\ company 
cannot be rewarded with a lower Extent Level based oi1 such business decisions, particularly 
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where it docs not demonstrate that it had no resources to allocate, hire or contract with someone 
I<) ensure its compliance with EPCR/\ § 313. 

Tn sum, the record presents no persuasive reason to deviate from the ERP's methodology 
as to the extent of violation. A sliding scale methodology used in the !-fall .)'igns case was limited 
to the fact s in that case, which arc dissimilar to those in the present case. Such a sliding scale 
was rejected by the Environmental Appeals Board in Clarksburg Casket Co., 8 E./\.D. 496, 1999 
EPA App. LEXlS 23 *43 (EAI3 1999), in whi ch the respondent had $14.5 to $15 mill ion in sa les 
and 185 employees, but the amount of chemical used was only up to two times the ERP Exten t 
Level threshold. Where, as here, the amount of chemical used is more than I 0 times the ER P 
Extent Level threshold, and amount of corporate sa les exceeds that in Clarksburg, there is even 
less reason to use a sliding scale methodology than in Clarksburg. 

Next, as to Respondent's claim that this Tribunal should deviate from the ERP's method 
of assessing the extent of a violation considering the amount of the chemical "manufactured, 
processed or otherwise used," and derive such extent instead from the amount of the chemical 
released during the relevant year, it is noted that in any case in which the basic propositions upon 
which the penalty policy is based arc genuinely placed at issue, the ALJ "must be prepared 'to re­
examine those lbasic] propositions."' Employers Insurance of Wausau and Group 8 Technology, 
Inc., 6 E.A.D. 73-5 , 76 1 (E/\B 1997) (quoting McLouth Steel Products Corp. v. Thomas, 838 F.2d 
1317, 132 1 (D .C. Cir. 1988)). Moreover, in this regard it is observed that' Respondent 's 
argument that Section 3 13 is concerned with releases of chemicals, and is thus more relevant 
than the amount manufactured, processed or used at a facility, ostensibly has some merit. Indeed, 
the ERP states wi th respect to Ex tent Level: 

EP /\believes that using the amount o f' § 3 13 chemical involved in the violation as 
the primary factor in determining the extent level underscores the overall intenl 
and goal of EPCRA § 313 to make available to the public on an annual basis a 
reasonable estimate of the toxic chemiq!l substances emitted into their 
communities from these regulated sources. 

C's Ex. 6 at 9. This statement read alone would suggest that the amount "involved'' to determine 
the Extent Level would refl ect some estimate of the amount of the chemical "emit ted" (released), 
into the community rather than merely the amoun t: processed or used at the facilit y. However, 
the ERP:s actual Extent Levels arc clearly delineated only in terms of"foaci liti cs which 
manu f'actmc, process or otherwise use ten times or more the threshold of the § 313 chcm i cal 
involved" and "f-acilities which manufacture, process or otherwise use less than ten times the 
threshold," along with the cri teria of' sales and number of employees. !d. Thus, despi te the 
above quoted expression of Agency in tent, the amo'unt of emissions into the community by the 
regulated source is not in fact considered in determining the extent level under the ERP. 

lcverthcless, it is noted that the method of categorizing the ex tent of the violation 
actually uti li zed under the ERP is reasonable, perhaps even more reasonable than an estimate or 
releases . In thi s regard it is not ed that the amount of the chemical manuf:1cturcd, processed or 
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used, considered along with annual sa les and number of employees, correl ates with the 
sophistication and size of the company and magnitude of its operation, and thus is indicative of 
the resources a company should have for compliance with Section 313 ofEPCRA and the 
amou nt of penalty needed for deterring violations. On the other band, the number of pounds of 
the chemical released does not indicate the resources a company should have to comply with 
Section 313. Also, without other facts pertaining to the releases, the amount of releases docs not 
provide all of the information from the Form R tha t would be important for the commt.mity to 
know, and which the communi ty was deprived of by the fai lure to fi le the Form R . . The amount 
of releases does not alone indicate its potential hazards to the communi ty, which depend on 
several other facts, such as the envi ronmental medium in to which the chemi cal is released. It is 
more appropriate to consider all these facts together, which can be accomplished when adjust ing 
the gravity-based penalty. 8 In particular, a very low level o f releases, when considered along 
with other rel ated facts, may support a downward adjustment fo r "other fnctors as justice may 
requi re," as discussed below. · 

B. C ircu mstance Level of Violation 

As to the Circumstance Level, wh ich takes into account the length of the fi ling delay, Mr. 
Frazer noted that the Respondent filed its Form Rs for 2001 th rough 2005 on or about April 25, 
2007. Tr. 85. from this he concluded that each of the forms due for calendar years 2001 through 
2004 were filed more than one year after their filing dead line. Tr. 85. As such, according to the 
ERP, the violations for those years (Counts 1-8) fall within "Circumstance Level 1." Tr. 86-87; 
C's Ex. 57. I-lc further concluded that the violations pertain ing tothc fi lings due for the 2005 
calendar year (Counts 9 and 1 0), due on or before July 1, 2006, were filed less than one year late. 
C's Ex. 57. As such, according to ERJ> , they fel l \·Vithin "Circumstance Level 4." Tr. 88-8~. 

Respondent did not contest the Circumstance Level, and the record docs not support any 
different assessment of Ci rcumstance from that proposed by Complainant under the ERJ>. 
Accordingly, Counts I through 8 are assessed as Ci rc:umstancc Level 1 and Counts 9 and I 0 arc 
assessed as Circumstance Level 4. 

C. G r av ity-based Pen alty C alcula tion 

I . Arguments and Evidence 

for the violations regarding aluminum, applying Extent Level A and Ci rcumstance Level 
I to the ERP matri x results in imposition of the maximum penalty EPCRA al lowed at the time or 
violation, which was S27,500 for Counts 1 and 3 (the 2001 and 2002 violations) and $32,500 fo r 

8 ln addition, if the extent of violation was assessed in large part based on the amount of 
chemical released, a respondent might have an incentive to falsify the amount or release reported 
on its Form R in expectation that the penalty would be greatly reduced and that EPA would not 
detect such false data; EPA may be more easily able to verify the amount of chemical used. 
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Counts 5 and 7 (the 2003 and 2004 violations). C's Ex. 57. As to the violations perta in ing to the 
copper compounds, with Extent Level 8 and Circumstance Level 1, the matrix rndicatcs tha t a 
appropriate penalty would be $ 18,700 for the violations pertain ing to 200 I and 2002 (Counts 2 
and 4), and $21,922 for the violations pertaining to 2003 and 2004 (Counts 6 and 8). In regard to 
the 2005 aluminum and copper compound violations (Counts 9 and 1 0) which are assessed at 
Circumstance Level of 4, as they pertain to Form Rs fi led less than one yea r late (and Ex tent 
Levels of A and B, respectively), fo ll owing the ERP Mr. Frazer slated that penalti es \.verc 
calculated using a per-day formul a. Tr. 88-91. In order to do so, he ti rsl determi ned that the 
fonm were fil ed 296 clays past their due da te. Tr. 89-90. Then, following the EH P directi ve 
whi ch proportionali zes the yearly maximum penalty to account fo r violations continui ng for less 
than a year, he determined that an appropriate penalty for the 2005 aluminum vio lation wou ld be 
$28,740 and an appropriate penalty fo r the copper compound violation would be $ 19,202. Tr. 
90-9 1; C's Ex. 57. Adding the penalty sums so ca lculated fo r each of the ten violations together, 
and rolllid ing to the nearest hundred, yielded the Agency's proposed gravity-based penalty of' 
$249, 186, or, rounded to the nearest hundred, $249,200. Tr. 92. 

2. f- indings and Conclusions as to Gravit y-Based Pena ltv Calculat ion 

The record supports Complainant's ca lculation of the grav ity-based penalties fo r al l ten 
counts of the Complaint. /\ccord i ngly, the gravi ly-based penalty is $249, J 86. 

D. A ttitudc 

The ERP provides for a downward adjustment to the gravity-based pena lty for the factor 
of"alli tude." Specifical ly, the ERP provides for a reduction of up to 15 percent of the penalty f() r 
a violator's cooperation and up to an additional 15 percent for a violator's good r~1 ith efforts to 
come into compl iance. C's Ex. 6 (ERP at 18). Under the first component, the penal ty may be 
reduced based on ''factors such as degree of preparedness during the inspect ion, al lowing access 
to records, rcsponsi veness and expeditious provision of supporti ng documentation requested by 
EP !\during or after the inspection, and cooperation and preparedness during the settlement 
process." !d. Under the second component, the penalty may be reduced lor the facility's good 
fa ith efforts to comply with EPCR/\, and the speed and completeness with whi ch it comes in to 
compliance." Jd. 

I . Compl ainant's Arguments and Evidence 

Mr. Frazer determined that the attitude factor was inapplicable to this c·ase because 
Valimcl was not cooperative in that it took an ex tended period o f time to produce the threshold 
ca lculations requested by the Agency and then only did so after a series of telephone ca lls 
prompt ing it. Tr. 94. Complainant compares this to Clarksburg Casket Co., EP !\ Docket ·a. 
EPCR/\-III- 165, 1998 EPA /\LJ LEXIS 50 (AU, June 25, 1998), a.f('d, 8 E./\.D. 496 (E/\13 
1999), in which the ALJ found the respondent to be non-cooperati ve in waiting two years afi.cr 
the inspection to provide the usage data. C's Bri ef' at 29. Complai nant charactcri;ces 
Respondent 's conduct as a " f1 agrant disregard fo r its commitment to work cooperatively wi th 
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EPA" by con ti nually ignoring deadlines to submit the data . C's Brief at 29. further, Mr. frazer 
no ted that Valimct took an extended period of time to submit its fo rm 1\s, which he concluded 
evidenced a lack of good-faith efforts on its part to come into compliance. ·r r. 94-95. 
Complainant emphasizes that the fo rm Rs were fil ed almost 6 months after the company 
gathered and submi tted its threshold data and three years after the inspection, and only afi.er EP i\ 
notified it of a potential enforcement action. C's Brief at 30-31. These (~tcts should not be 
negated by Valimet's cooperative behavior during the inspection and participation in mandated 
settlement discussions, Complainant urges. C's Rep ly at 19-20. 

Further bolstering its arguments, Complainant asserts that althot1gh it did not increase the 
penalty to account for culpabi lity of Respondent , Respondent 's violations were shown at the 
hearing to be "knowing" and/or "wil lful" and therefore it s level of culpabil ity supports the 
proposed penalty. C's Brief at 44. The ERP does not include culpabi li ty as a factor in 
calculating a penalty, but does allow Complainant to "assess per day penalties, or take other 
enforcement actio.n as appropriate" for "knowing or wi ll ful" viol ations. !d. , citing ERP (C 's Ex .. 
6) p. 14. Responden t was aware of it s fi ling obl igations fo r aluminum dust, having submitted 
Form Rs ii·om 1990 through 2000, and was aware that it was not al locating enough resources to 
timely file the form Rs. C's Brief at 46, C's Reply at 20. EPA notes that the person in charge of 
fi ling, Mr: Oberholtzer, was too busy, and sought but did not receive help from Mr. Campbel l, 
the president ofVal imet. Complainant submi ts that Mr. Oberholtzer and Mr. Campbell were 
benefitting f'rom a "profit-sharing" plan, which includes profiting from a fai lure to act or hi re 
add itional staf'fnecessary to ensure compliance. !d. 

2. Respondent's Arguments and Evidence 

. Responden t maintains that the penalty should be reduced by the full 30 percent for the 
facto r of "attitude." Valimet ci tes testi mony evidencing it prepared for and cooperated in the 
April 2004 inspection, and asserts that its counsel cooperated in and was prepared for settlement 
discussions in the Alternative Dispute Resolut ion process. R's Briefat23. Va li met asserts that 
there is no evidence of bad f"~1ith on Responclent's part, and suggests that the fact that it. is a smal l 
business with over-burdened staff, where EPA did not provide outreach, no longer issued 
reminder notices, and did not supply the in forma tion on low levels of lead and mercui·y 
impurities, should be taken into account in assessing "attitude." R 's Brief at 10-11, 24; Tr. I 15-
16. Respondent further points out that it was in compl iance with EPCRA Sections 311 and 3 12, 
that it conducted training exercises with the loca l fire department at its faci lity, that it filed the 
Form Rs prior to the fili ng of the Complaint, and that it was 85-90 percent complete wi th the 
form Rs when it received the Notice of Violation on April 11, 2007. R's Brief at I 0; Tr. 468-
470, 502. Further, Valimet states it undertook compliance measures to prevent recurrence of the 
vio lations, in that it created a new job posi tion for an existing employee that includes compliance 
assistance funct ions, and ensures compliance with regulatory deadl ines with an automated 
ca lcnc.larin·g system . . Tr. 521-522; R's Exs. 5, 6 . 

. f inally, Respondent distinguishes Clarksburg Casket on the basis that there were six 
reasons therein for finding a lack of cooperation, including not preparing for the inspection and 
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not filing its form Rs as of the date of the hearing. R's Reply at 5-6. I~ espondent emphasizes 
that in comparison, Mr. Oberholtzer here was not acting with malice or dishonest purpose bu t 
was :willing to comply, and simply lacked quiet time to gather information and prepare the Form 
R when he had competing demands fo r hi s time. ld. at 6-7. 

3. findings and Conclusions as to Attitude f actor 

As to the first half of the attitude. adjustment factor refl ecting a violato r' s cooperatiot1, it 
is noted that Inspector Lucas did testify that Mr. Oberholtzer was ''very cooperative dttring the 
inspection," allowed him access to Valimet's records, and was "prepared for the inspection ... 
and answered whatever questions we had." Tr. 159-1 60. Furthermore, whi le l~espondent does 
not cite to any testimony to s1.1pport its assertion of cooperation and preparedness during the 
settlement process, it is noted that such evidence is not typically presented, and that Complainant 
does not appear to dispute Respondent' s assertion. See, C's Reply at 19-20 (Complainant merely 
refers to "part icipation in mandated settl ement di scussions."). Nevertheless, this Tribunal is wary 
to consider and adjudge allegations of conduct during confidential settlement di scussions in the 
context of litigation. See, Woodcrest lv!an.ufacturing, Inc., 7 E.A.D. 757, 777 and n. 16 (EAB 
199.8). However, the case file does ind_jcate that the parti es voluntarily engaged In Alternative 
Dispute Resolution and engaged in settLement conferences prior to the hearing, and it was 
observed by the Tribunal that both parti es were cooperati ve and prepared for the litiga tion of thi s 
case. On the other hand, the evidence of record also clearly establishes that Respondent was not 
at all expeditious in providing supporting documentation requested by EPA after the inspection. 
Therefore, a reduction of 8 percent of the gravity based penalty, rather than the full 15 percent, is 
warranted for the first component of the "attitude" factor. 

As to the second component, Respondent eventua lly came into compliance by fi ling all 
of the missing fo rm Rs, albeit only after EPA issued the notice of intent to initiate an 
enforcement action, and Respondent timely filed Porm Rs f()r 2006 and 2007. Slip. ,138; C's Ex. 
10, 14-16, 32, 55; R' s Ex. I 3; Tr. 68-69, 125-26, 500, 521. This fact does merit some reduction 
in the penalty, in order to distinguish Respondent from vio la tors such as in Clarksburg Casket 
and Woodcrest lvfanufacturing who failed to !i le Form Rs even afier issuance of the complaint. 
In add ition, the record indicates that Mr. Oberholtzer was honest and that he made effo rts to be 
thorough and accurate in his calculations of amounts of chemicals to be reported on Form Rs, 
including the amounts of aluminum, copper compounds, nickel and zinc powder that LPA 
requested, and mercury and lead that. may occur in very low levels in aluminum . Tr. 486-492, 
494-99, 159-165. For these efforts and eventual compliance, a four pet:ccnt reduction will be 
appl ied to the penalty. 

No further reduction is warranted based on the argument that Respondent's good 
intention or good faith effort was hindered by being a small business with over-burdened staff, 
lacking time to complete the form Rs. The record shows that even after the inspection, Valirnct 
chose to give other business matters higher priority than compli ance with Section 313 of 
EPCRA. Valimet chose to allocate its rcso~u·ces toward the success of its business - along with 
safety mntters nnd compliance with other government requ irement~- hut. did not ~I locate 
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suCficient resources ·(or past or present compliance with Section 313 of EPCRA. Respondent 
docs not allege that there ,.vas any tragic or unusual occurrence that requi red rea llocation or 

. resources set aside for completing the Form Rs, and thus docs not shovv any basis for further 
reduction of the penalty for "attitude." 

The fact that EP !\.did not provide the information to Mr. Oberholtzer regarding low 
l<::vcls of lead and mercury in aluminum does not change this cQnclusion. Tr. 491. Mr. 
Oberholtzer admitted that he could perform the cill culalions fo r aluminum and copper 
compounds without the informatio n from· EPA concerning lead and mercury. !d. Mr. 
Oberholtzer was concerned about whether he had to report a separate Form R for lead, and how 
to report an amount of mercury that is below the dcleetion limit. Tr. 486-91, 162-64. ror 
materi als that arc composites or mixtures of different listed chemicals, for Form R purposes the 
amount of.chem ical processed or used is calculated from the percentage of the chemical in the 
composi te or mixture. Tr. 146-47, 154. According to Mr. Lucas, th is calculation is "not 
difficul!" and al l the threshold calculat ions he requested from Mr. Oberholtzer would have taken 
two weeks, includi ng time to make sure it is correct. Tr. 146-47, 154-55. 

The fact that no reminder notices were issued by.EP !\.during the time of the violations 
also docs not weigh in favor of a further reduction for the compliance component. Such 
courtesies on !he part of EPA in providing reminder notices in some instances cannot be 
converted to a pcnal!y mitigating factor when reminder notices arc not issued by EPA in other 
instances, particularly in the ci rcurnslanccs of this case. Similarly, any absence of EP !\. providing 
out reach to regulated entities does not provide a basis for penal ly mitigation. The record 
indicates that EPA Region 9 did provide annual training programs and speakers to groups upon 
request, and took calls for ass istance. Tr. 127. The record does not indi.catc that Respondent 
wou ld have fi led its Form Rs for the time period at issue if EPA had provided more ou treach. 

Respondent's compljance with Sections 311 and 312 of EPCRA docs no! warrant any 
adjustment to the penalty either. Pacific Refining Company, 5 E.A.D. 607 n. 19 (EAB 
1994)(pc11alty not reduced for respondent making local agencies aware of chemicals it uses). 
Finally, Respondent's efforts to prevent f·ur!her vio lations do not warran t <:\ further reduction in 
the penally, as the evidence shows that Valimel did not allocate a port ion of Mr. Oberholtzer's 
dut ies to another employee to help with EPCRA compli c11ice u.nti l after the Complai nt was filed. 
R's Ex. 5; Tr. 521-22. Respondent's printout from its auton1atcd ca lcndaring.systcm commences 

· wi th January 2007, two and a half years after EPA's inspection. R's Ex. 6; Tr. 522. 

ll is conclucl ecl thatthc gravi ty based penalty wi ll be reduced by 12 percen t to account for 
the facto r of "a!ti tude." 

K Other A djustm ent Factors 

Mr. f razer considered whether the in itial gravity-based penalty should be altered either up 
or down based upon !he various other acljustmcnt'fac!ors set forth in the ERP, and concluded that 
no such change was w<1rrantcd. Tr. 92. Specifically, he noted that a downward adjustment was 
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not appropri ate based upon "voluntary disclosure" because Valimet's viol at ions were di scovered 
as a result of an inspection, and not as a resul t of any disclosure on its part. Tr. 92-93 . He also 
concluded that an upward adjustment was not ,.varrantcd on the basis of a prior hi story of 
violations because Val imet had no such hi story. Tr. 93 . Mr. Frazer noted that the adjustment 
factor applying to delistcd chemicals was inapplicable as neither alu mi num nor copper 
compounds had been delisted. Tr. 93-94. 

Although Vali met did not claim an inab ility to pay the proposed penal ty, Complainant 
demonstrated that it.met its ini tial burden to consider Valimet 's ab ility to pay by consideri ng a 
Dun & Bradstreet report and other publicly avai lable information. C's Brief at 25; C' s Ex. 12. 
Complainant points Otlt that the proposed penalty is onl y 1.3 percent of Respondent's gross sales 
in 2007. C's Brief at 26; Tr. 379-80. 

Complainant's assessment of these adjustment facto rs are not di sputed. However, the 
parties strenuously dispute whether the penalty should be redt1ced on the basis o ['the risk of 
harm, so th is factor is discussed separately below. 

F. Other Factors as Jus tice Mav Require- Risk of Harm 

Mr. Frazer decided that no adjustment to the penalty vvas necessary "for other f~1 ctors as 
justi ce may require," as there were no such other factors . Tr. 99. Respondent, however, strongly 
urges that the penalty be reduced on the basis that aluminum dust is not tox ic, and suggests that 
the reduction be under the rubric "other factors as justice may requi re." R' s Reply at 5. 

1. Complainant's Arguments and Evidence 

Complainant 's view is that penalty assessment for a violation of Secti on 313 of EPCRA 
general ly should not take into consideration the actual harm or risk of' harm to human health or 
the environment posed by the facil ity's chemical management act ivities. C's Brief at 33. 
Apparentl-y in support of that view, Complainant cites to a preamble to a 1997 regulation 
expanding the report ing requi rements ofSection 313. See, 62 Fed. Reg. 23834 at 23839, 23840, 
23843 (May I , 1997)("EPA believes tha t a risk-based approach to EPCI~ .I\ sect ion 3 1'3 reporti ng 
is at odds with the basic premise of EPCRA section 313, which is to gel information about the 
use, disposition, and management of toxic chemicals into the public domain, enabli ng the users 
of this information to evaluate the in format ion and draw their own conclusions about risk."). 
Complainant also ci tes to WoodcrestMam!facturing, Inc., 7 E. A.D. 757, 780 (EAB 1998)("any 
Jack of actual harm to the environment resulting from a respondent 's violation of the EPCRA § 
313 reporting requirements is not grounds fo r reducing the penalty for such violation ... . ")and 
Pacific Refining Co., 5 E.A.D. 607 (EAB 1994)("In light of the statutory penalty scheme, there is 
simply no compel ling basis for f·urther reducing the per-violation gravity-based penalties on the 
grounds that Paci fic's ten reporting violations may not have increased by tenfold any risk to the 
envi ronment."). However, acknowledging the ruling in the Order issued in thi s case on 
November 6, 2008, allowing Respondent to present evidence as to poten tial hazards to the 
community from the chemical required to be reported on the Form R, Complni nnnt presented 
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evidence at the heari ng of risks posed by Valimet' s chemical handling activities. C's Brief at 35 . 
Complainant argues that to the extent that risk posed by toxic chemicals is considered in 
assessi i1g a_ penalty fo r vio lation ofEPCRA § 313, the risk should be broad based, pointing out 
that the reporting requirements of EPCRA § 313 cover many aspects of a fa ci lity's chemical 
management practi ces. C's Brief at 36-37. Complainant also refers to the statement of the 
undersigned at the hearii1g, that the issue of aluminum dust being a high risk, in that it could 
explode, is a relevant facto r to be considered. C's Reply at 8-9, citing Tr. 20. 

Compl ainant argues that Valimet's failure to fi le the Form l~s deprived the public for 
almost fi ve years of vital information necessary to make informed decisions about the dangers 
posed by IFill ions of pounds of aluminum dust and thousands of pounds of copper compounds 
managed by its facility, and that the ri sks posed by the facility's activities are demonstrated by 
testimony of Mr. Ross, an expert on ignitabi lity, Oammability, reactivity and explosivity of 
materials. C's J3ri ef at 13-14. Mr. Ross testified that aluminum dust is ten times more cxplosi"':e 
than trin itroto luene (TNT), and described potential scenarios in ·which aluminum dust could 
accidently be ig1iited and explode at Valimet 's fac ility, including a scenario in which an initial 
explosion could ca·use a larger secondary explosion. Tr. 240-52, 305-09; C's Ex. 52. Mr. Ross 
explained that satelli te photos of the area around the facility, superimposed with blast profile 
rings, showed that an explosion of 400 pounds of aluminum dt1st would cause lethal it y, lung 
damage, and eardrum rupture at a large portion ofVal imet's facility and that a residential area, a 
highway and portion of the airport, would not he a "safe distance" from the blast. C's Ex. 46; Tr. 
188-89, 253-60. Mr. Ross further testifi ed that an explosion of'400 pounds of aluminum dust 
would create a ri sk of lethal ity in a di ameter of 157 feel (i·om the explosion. Tr. 253-54; C's [~x. 
46. l-Ie testified that an explosion of 6,000 pounds of aluminum ·dust wou ld be lethal to everyone 
at the Val imet faci lity, and would cause risk of serious bodily harm to those in an expansive 
residential area, nearby roads and railroads. Tr. 257-60; C's· Ex. 47, 48. Mr. Ross mentioned 
th.at exposure of aluminum dust to water will produce hydrogen gas, which could ignite in the 
presence of heat. Tr. 238, 284. He also mentioned that an explosion could occur if a truck 
transporting aluminum dust was in an accident, or i r hydrogen gas was released as a result o!' the 
aluminum dust becoming wet and heated up in the truck by the sun .. Tr. 336-37. 

Moreover, Compl ainant points to Mr. Oberholtzer's admission made at hearing t·hat two 
acciden tal explosions have previously occurred at Valimet 's f'acility in 1987 and 1997. Tr. 503 -
10. The 1irst explosion invo lved a malfunction of an operating machine, releasing appro ximately 
40 pounds of' aluminum dtiSt, which resulted in an employee getting burned from the flash and . 
minimal damage to the building. Tr. 505- 11. The second incident in 1997 occurred when a 
maintenance operator tryi ng to diagnose a problem wi th a machine bypassed the interlock, and 
operated the mach ine without a fu ll purging procedure. This explosion li fled the roof of' the 
bui lding, but caused no injuries and minimal damage to the eqt1ipment, because there was a 
minimal amount of aluminum powder in the area. Tr. 513-16. 

Finally, on this point, .Complainant argues that Valimet's workers and other interested 
members of the public deserve to be informed ofRespolident's chemical management activit ies 
so they can assess the risks posed by the fncility, nnd thnt "thi s case embodies the very harm that 
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EPCRA § 313 was enacted to address, the lack of access by the publi c to vital information that 
wou ld inform them of serious ri sks in their community pertai ning to the industri al management 
of chemicals." C's Brief at 15-16. 

2. Respondent's Arguments and Evidence 

Respondcr1t 's posit ion is that the penalty should be substantially reduced on the basis that 
there is no dispute that aluminum dust is not toxic, and that there is sign i licantly less h,arm in 
!~ti ling to submit information about a substance that is non-tox ic than fo r a substance that is 
high ly tox ic. R' s Brief at 16-18. At the hearing, Respondent presented its expert toxicologist, 
Dr. Embree, who test ified that "as commonly defined, al umi num dust is not toxic," that if all 
substances on the EPCRA 313 li st were ranked in order of toxicity, aluJTtinum dllSt wou ld place 
at or very close to the bottqm of the li st, and that aluminum dust was included qn the EPCRA li st 
of toxic substances because OST-IA had placed it on its list, but it would not meet the criteria fo r 
being added to the EPCRA list. Tr. 61 1-12,627,629. Respondent asserts that aluminum dust 
has the same health effects- respiratory irritation- as any small particle, simply due to its size, 
citing to the same OSHA standard of I 0 mil ligrams per liter for aluminum as for any other small 
parti cles, such as nuisance dust. Tr. 621-22. Noting that EPA did not present any tox icology 
expert at the hearing, Respondent asserts that Mr. Ross, EPA's expert on cxplosivity, "was of' the 
view that aluminum was essentially non-toxic," citing to hi s test imony that, "other than 
respiratory hazards and,.of cour,se, the unknowns that have been presented , of things like 
Alzheimer's disease, I'm not aware of any other tox icological issues." R 's Brief at 2, 6, I 8.; Tr. 
348-349. Respondent al so asserts that the Agency for Toxic Substance and Di sease Registry 
(ATSDR), the National Institute of' Occupational Safety and Health (NTOSH) and the Ameri can 
Conference of Governmental Industri al Hygienists (ACGIH), are of the view that aluminum dust 
is not toxic, referring to Dr. Embree 's testimony that hi s review.ofComplainant' s Exhib its 8, I 8, 
and I 9 and Respondent 's Ex hibit 9 confirmed his opinion that al umin um dust is not toxic. Tr. 
6 l6-17, 619-20, 623 -24. Valimet also cites to Dr. Embree 's testimony that the combustion 
product of aluminum powder, aluminum oxide, is also not toxic. E 's Brief' at 6; Tr. 635. 

This evidence is not countered by Complainant's evidence of fire and explos ion ri sk, 
Respondent asserts, because EPCRA is concerned witl.1 toxic substances, not explosion risk, 
which has no nexus to the statutory scheme. R' s Brief at I 9. Valimct points out that substances 
posing high explosion ri sks such as Oour and trin itrotoluene (TNT) arc not li sted under EPCRA. 
!d. further, Respondent arg·ues, Section 313 of EPCRA seeks information about actual releases 

·to the environment in the past year, whereas Sections 311 and 312 of EPCRA, with which 
Valimet has ahvays been in compliance, seck information about substances loca ted in a faci lity to 
prevent and respond to f1.1turc incidents. R's Brief at 19-20; Tr. 50. Valimet asserts that worst­
case scenario explosion incidents are very unlikely. R.'s Brief at 6, 20. [n particular, Valimcl 
asserts, its dust hazard prevention practices comply with all recommendations and standards 
promulgated by the National Fire Protections Association and other entities, citing to Mr. 
Oberholtzer's testimony as to Respondent's control of ignition sources, by bonding and 
grounding al l equipment and containers, a perm it program to control the types of work that uses 
an energy source or may create a spark or open flame, removing combustible material, having 
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extinguishing materials avai lable and inspected, and training personnel and cont ractors, and as to 
Respondent's policies and practices to mitigate damage from an incident, such as explosion 
venting, usc of non-combustible building materials, iso lating processes in separate buildings, and 
emergency procedmes. Tr. 434-41. 

Therefore, Respondent urges that a sign ificant reduction of the penalty be granted by this 
Tribunal in light of the Fact that its Fai lure to report concerned only releases or small amounts of a 
non-toxic substance. Brief at 2. Respondent points out fhat during 2006, the most recent year 
for which data is available, it released 50 pounds of aluminum dust to the environment, and was 
ranked as the 870'h largest emitter or toxic metals to the environment ou t of 1603 facilities in the 
primary meta ls indust ry. R's l3 ri cfat 3-4; Tr. 110,471-72, 477; R's Ex. 8, 13. Respondent 
Curther avers that its closed-loop system and the seals ~1sed in its operations prevent or minimize 
emissions, ci ting to testimony o f Mr. Oberholtzer. Brief' at 3; Tr. 43 1. Respondent adds that it 
has an aggressive housekeeping policy and that metals recaptured from housekeeping are · 
recycled. Brief at 3; Tr. 432-433. 

3. Complainant's Fen.ly 

Complainant responds to Respondent's non-toxicity argument by asserting that the 
penally should account for "the actual impai rment to the publ ic's nbil ity to assess risks resul ti ng 
from a company's fa ilt1re to nlc its Form Rs" and thus "al l risks that cou ld have been discerned 
from the untimely filed Form R information" should be considered, and not just risks related to 
actua l releases and toxicity of the chemical. C's Reply at 9-10. Complainant argues that 
Respondent's focus on the lack of lox icity of alumi num, based on the eri teria for new I isti ngs of 
chemicals, set out in EPCRA § 313(d)(2), is irrelevant to determination of a penal ty unl ess a 
chemical is delisted. C's Reply at9. Complainant points to EPCRA § 3 13(h), which states that 
Form Rs are not.on ly to inf'orm persons about releases of toxic chemicals but also to assist in 
research, data gathering, developing regulations, guidel ines and standards, and for "other similar 
purposes," and that form Rs require in f'o ni1ation not only on releases but also on maximum 
HI110tmts of the chemical presen t at the facility, cntegory of usc, and waste treatment or disposal 
methods. C's 1\cply at I 0- 1 I. Complainant further points to a passage in the legisla ti ve history 
or·EPCRA slating that " the reporting provisions in this legislation should be construed 
expansively to require the collection of the most information permitted under the statutory 
language." C's Reply at 11-12, citing C's Ex. 39 p. 107 (132 Cong. H.ec. H9564, at f-!9593 (Oct. 
8, 1986). As to Section 3 11 oFEVCRA, requiring filing ofMalerial Safety Data Sheets, 
Complainant asserts that they convey only generali zed hazard intormalion about a chemical, and 
as to Section 312, Complainant asserts that it provides chemical inventory in f'ormation to state 
and local governments for emergency planning and to the public tJpon request from those 
government enti ti es, whereas Section 313 provides the public with easy instan t access to 
computerized data. C's 1\cply at 13-14. Complainant emphasizes that the EPCRA § 3 13 
program empowers local communit ies lo ho ld companies accountab le about thei r management or 
toxic chemicals, not only their releases, as evidet1ced by EP 1\'s webpage presented in 
Respondent's Preheari ng Exchange. C's Reply at 15, citing R's Ex . 10. 
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l\11oreover, Complainant asserts that Mr. Embree did not demonst rate that aluminum dust 
is non-tox ic, as he never elabor~1ted on what standard he was using in stat ing "as commonl y 
defined , aluminum dust is not toxic," except [or hi s belief that it would not be li sted today fo r 
EPCRA § 313 purposes. C's Reply at 15-16, citing Tr. 61 1-12. 1-Ie oi1 ly rcl ied upon summaries 
of' stud ies rather than the actua l studies in making his conclusions, never considered potential 
exposure pathways to workers or nearby residences from Val imct 's aluminum dust, and 
acknowledged that respiratory probl ems and neurological changes are associated with alumi num 
dust exposure, Complainant points out. C's Reply, citi ng Tr. 613, 6 16-17, 633. Compl ainant 
also notes that no one has petitioned EPA to delist aluminum dust under EPCRA 3 13( e)( I ). 

Finally, Complainant urges that' the level o f' ri sk of alumi num dust explosion or fi re at 
Respondent' s facility would interest the public, and that' it is o f more concern than materials such 
as TNT or f1our, which are less explosive and flammable than alum inum dtist . C's Rep ly at 18-
19. 

4. Respondent' s Rep ly 

· J~ esponden t points out that EPCRA § 313 data on the Toxics Release Inven tory is 
available on-li ne, so a company's data is avai lable [rom previous yea rs even if the company 
fai led to fil e a Form R for a period of time. R' s Reply at 2. Valimet additionally argues that the 
smaller the release and less toxic the substance, the less "undermining" c) f EPCl~A 's purpose 
occurs as a resul t of a viol ation, as a motorist who exceeds the speed limi t by one mi le an hour 
tmdermincs the law and is fined less than one who exceeds it by 50 miles per hour. !d. 
Respondent urges that this is not a typ ical case, where the violation invo lves one o f the least 
toxic substances on the list and where its releases are very small , and therefore the public 
information gap is far less than i r the violation invo lved large releases of a highly toxic 
substance. R 's Reply at 8-9. 

Moreover, Valimet argues that ri sk other than tox icity o f a substance is o f' "marginal 
relevance" to penally assessment for EPCRA Section 313 violat ions, which is concerned with 
reporting of actual releases of toxic substances that occur ~1s a rcsu lt or normal business 
operations, citing to legislative histo ry, House Con f. Rep. No. 99-962, reprinted in U.S. Code and 
Cong. & Admin. News, 99111 Cong., 2"d Sess. ( 1986) at 3276, 3385. Respondent cites to Mr. 
Oberholtzer's testi mony that tests conducted on Valimel's aluminum powder show that it is not 
ignitable or reactive, and is not a flammab le solid. R's Reply at 9, citing Tr. 4 78-82, 541-50. In 
contrast, Va limet notes, Mr. Ross's testin1ony was not based on knowledge ofValimel's 
materials. 

As to the two explosions at its fa cility, Valimel points ou t that it took corrective action as 
a result of them, which decreases the risk. I~ ;s Reply at 10. 

5. Findings and Conclusions _as to Risk of Harm 

The first question to address is whether a penalty for violation of Section 313 or EPCR/\ 
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can be reduced under the ERP on the bas is that the chemical invo lved has-a low level of toxicity 
and/or low levels of releases 9 The amount of releases of the chemical for the year reported is a 
primary pi ece of information to be reported on the tox ic chemical release forms (Form Rs), and is 
central to its purpose. Section 3 13(a) sets out the facilities required to report thereunder, and the 
clue elate and recipients of the report, and only one item of data, nan1ely, "data rcnecting releases 
during the precedi ng calendar year." As stated in Section 313(h) ofEPCRJ\, entitl ed "Usc or 
Release f orm" -

The release forms requi red under this section (form Rs) arc intended to provide 
i'nformation to the Federal, State and local governments and the public, includi ng 
citizens of communities surrounding covered facilities. The release form -shall be 
availab le , . . to inform persons abo ut releases of toxic chemicals to the 
envi ronment; to assist governmental agencies, rcscarchCJ's and other persons in the 
conduct of research and data gathering; to aiel in the development of appropriate 
regulations, gu idelines and standards; and for other similar purpos_es. 

42 U.S.C. § 11 023(h)(emphasis added). Data fro m the Form R is requi red under EPCRJ\ 
§ 313(j) to be conveyed to a publ ical ly available nat ional database, the Toxics Release Inventory 
(TR T) . The regulations state that the purpose of fil ing the annual Form R is for co llecting , 
information " in tended to inforn1 the genera l publ ic and the communities surroundi ng covered 
l'aci li ties about releases of toxic chemicals," among other things. 40 C.F .R. § 3 72.1 (emphas is 
added). EPA bas stated in an Interim Final Ru le, as quoted by the Environmental Appeals Board, 
that EPCRA is intended to."provide residents and local governments with information 
concerning potential chem ical hazards present in their 'communi ti es." Woodcrest Manufacturing, 
Inc., 7 E.J\.0. 757-, 780 (EJ\B 1998)(quoting Interim Fina l Ru le, 5 1 Fed. Reg. 4 1,570 (Nov. 17, 
19.86)). 

The seriousness of the bi lure to file a f orm R is taken into accoun t in the ERP in terms 
of the accuracy and availability of the information in the Form I~ to the community, states and 
the Federal government, in assessing the Circumstance Level. ERP at 8, 11-12. But the ERP 
does not take into account the seriousness of fai!Ll re to fil e a form R in ·terms of the relative 
importance o f the in formation to the community, states and Federal government. When such 
ent ities are deprived of the information in the fo rm R by fail ure to fi le, they may be af fected to a 
larger or smaller degFee depending on the importance to them of the in forn1ation that was . 
requi red to be reported in the Form R. T he gTeatcr the danger posed by the releases, the greater 
the importance to the loca l communi ty, governments and general publ ic of the info rmation in the 
Form R, and the greater the impact on them from the facility's failure to file the Form R. See, 
Pitt-Des Moines, EPA Docket No. VIJT-89-06, 199 1 EPA ALJ LEXTS 26 *33 (A L.J , July 24, 
1991 )(purpose of EPCRA reporti ng requirements incl-udes determin ing the danger of substances 

9 The term " release" is defined in regulations implementing EPCl\ A § 313 as "spilling, leaking, 
pum ping, pou ri ng, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecti ng, escaping, leaching, dumping, or 
disposing into the environment (includ ing the abandonment or discard ing of . . . closed 
receptacles) of any toxic chem ica l." 40 C.F.R. § 3 72.5. 
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being released; penalty pre-el ating the ERP was reduced where rel ease \vould not be· dtingcrous); 
Chautauqua Hardware Corp., 3 E.A.D. 616,628, 1991 EPA App. LEXIS 48 *23 (C.IO 
199 1 )(respondent "could argue that the gravity of the alleged violations was not serious since the 
chemical turned out to be less dangerous than the Agency had ori gi nally believed"). The 
likelihood and severity of potential harm from the releases, along with the accuracy and 
ava il ab ility of the f orm R in forrnation , rcOects the potential harm to the EPCRA 313 program by 
the fai lure to file a timely Form R. The poten ti al harm to the particular regulatory program is 
generally considered in assessment of penalties. Wood crest Manufacturing, 7 E.A. D. at 78 1 
("we have consisten tl y held that fa ilure to comply with the reporting . . . requirements o f 
en\·ironmenta l statutes can cause signi ficant harm to the applicable regu latory scheme <1nd may 
be grounds fo r imposition of a substantial penalty") ; see, e.g. , C's Ex. 50 (PCl3 Penalty Policy, 
45 Fed. Reg. 59770, 59772 (Sept. J 0, 1980))(measure of extent of harm (i·om violation of hazard 
assessment data gathering requirements "focus[ es] on the goal.s or the given ... regtdation, and 
the types of harm it is designed to prevent."); EPA Genera l Enforcement Policy "GM-22" pp. 3. 
13-14 (Feb. 16, 1984)(gravity of the violation should consider 8ctual or possible harm and 
importance of the requirement to the goal of the rcgtdatory scheme). 

The likelihood and severity of potential harm from the releases depends on facts such as 
the amount of chemical released, the envi ronmental medium to which it is released, its tox icity, 
its form, its concentration, the human exposure pathway, and the likel ihood of such exposure. 
See, Tr. G 12-6 14, 623, 631, 635 . Whi lc the fi rst two items are rcq11ircd to be reported on a Form 
Rand arc made ava il able if and when a facili ty files its Form R, the other information may not 
generally be known or easi ly obtained in a given case. Therefore, these facto rs may not be 
appropri ate to consider in EPCRJ\. § 313 enforcement proceedings in general. However, in a 
pa rticu lar case, where the respondent establ ishes that the likelihood and severity of potentia l 
harm from the releases is extremely low, it may be unjust not lo consider it in assessing a penalty. 
The appropriate factor for aclj.usting a penalty which, calcula ted under the ERP, would be unjust 
to assess is "other factors as justice may require." Catalina Yachts, lnc., 11 2 F. Supp. 2d 965, 
970 (C.D. Ca l. 2000)("the 'justi ce' factor should only be applied when not giving someone credi t 
would be a manifest injustice and ... appli cation of this factor should be f ~1r rrom routine 
because the application of the other factors normal ly produces a pena lty that is fair and just."). 

The ERP provides that such "other f~1ctors as just ice may require" -

include, but are not limi ted to: new ownership for hi story of prior violat ions, 
'sign ificant-minor' borderl ine violations, and lack of' control over the vio lation. 
]:or example, occas ionali'y a violation, whi le of significant ex tent, will be so close 
to the borderl ine separati ng minor and significant violations or so close to the 
borderline separati ng noncompliance l'rom compliance, that the penal ty may seem 
disproportionately high. 

ERP at 18. This list is not exclusive, and as the Environmenta l Appeals l3oard has stated, other 
facto rs as justice may require "vests the Agency wi th broad di scretion to reduce the penalty when 
the other adjustment nlctors prove insurficient or inapproprintc to nchicvej usti cc." ,C..'pnng & 
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Company, 6 E./\.0: 226, 249 (E/\B 1995). 

The reco'rd shows that aluminum has a very low level of toxicity relati ve to other 
chemicals required to·bc reported under Section 313. C's Exs. 18, 19; Tr. 611-13, 616-17,619-
20,623 -24,627,629,635. Dr. Embree testified that if a toxicologist were to rank the chemicals 
rcqt1ired to be reported under EPCR/\ 313, aluminum dust would be "at the boltom [or if no(j, it 
would be very close to the bottom," and in his opinion, aluminum dust is "not toxic." Tr. 6 19-
22 1, 623, 629 . The reco rd does indicate some adverse health effects Crom aluminum in certain 
co nt~xts, s~1ch as respi ratory problems where workers are exposed to very high levels of dust in 
the air, metal fume fever where metal fumes rather than dust arc generated , and some evidence of' 
pulmonary fibrosis or subclinica l neurological cfTects where workers ·are chronicall y exposed to 
high levels ofaluminum dust. Tr. 613-14,6 17,62 1, 632-637; C's Ex. 19 pp. 6,12-15, 40-4 1; 
R 's Ex. 15. These effects must be considered in the context of Respondent's releases. 

Respondent released a total of 50 pounds of aluminum in the year 2006, when it 
mc.mufacturcd 4 million pounds of aluminum powder. Tr. 477; R' s Ex. 13. Considering al l 
releases of materials reported on f orm Rs for 2006, Valimet released a total of' 505 pmmds of 
toxic chemicals, placing Valimct on the Toxics Release Inventory for 2006 at 870111 place in total 
amount of toxic chemical releases of the 1,603 primary metals facilities listed in the United 
States. R's Ex. 8, 13; Tr. 47 1-73,477,655-57. The severity also depends on the med ia to which 
aiLlminum is released. Respondent's releases of alumim1m vvcre reported as under 500 pounds of 
f'ugitive emissions into the air and as stormwa!cr runofTand I 0,502 pounds by "other disposal"in 
2000; 600 pounds by "other disposal" in year 200 1; 250 and 370 pounds of"other di sposal" in 
2002 and 2003 respectively; and 720 and 750 pounds of"other di sposal" iri 2004 and 2005 
respectively. R' s Ex. 13. Mr. Frazer admitted that Respondent' s " releases to the environment 
arc rel atively low." Tr. II 0. The record shows that the facility does not have high 
concentrations of aluminum dust in the air, even when explosions have occurred at the f'acility. 
Tr. 150, 157,432-434,438,448,457,5 14-516. 

Ciivcn th is evidence, Respondent 's failure to report its releases of aluminum dust appears 
to be of reduced significance to the community and government when compared with the range 
of amounts and toxici ties of releases reported on Form Rs. To assess the same penalty against 
Respondent as against a f~t cil i ty which failed to report extremely large voltm1es of very toxic 
releases that have much greater potential harm to human health would be unjust. Therefore, 
some reduction in the penalty is warranted for "other f~tctors as justice may requi re" in regard to 
the vio lations concerning aluminum dust. 

The next question is whether any such reduction in the penalty should be negated by or 
min imized by risks of harm to human health and/or the environment other than those related to 
toxicity. While Respondent makes a good argument that EPCRA is concerned with toxicity of 
chemicals rather than other hazards, the penalty assessment should consider the ef'fcct on the 
local community and governments of the failu re to report the information required on a Form R, 
whi ch would include not onl y the toxic effects, but also the danger of releases of' the chemical in 
ijenern l. Therefore, the e:videncc presented by Respondent as to the fox icily or nluminum must 
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be considered along wi th Complainant 's evidence regarding the other dCl ngcrs o f aluminum dust 
for purposes of cons idering a penally reduction under the rubric "other facto rs as just ice may 
require." Such evidence, however, is not a factor (or increasing the penally, since the ERP does 
not take into account the danger of the chemical invo lved, and thus assumes a penalty calculated 
under the ERP is sufficiently large enough for a failure to report rel atively large rel eases of very 
toxic chemicals. 

Mr. Ross' testimony established tha t aluminum dust is high ly explosive and an explosion 
involving 400 pounds or more of it, could cause death and/or serious injury to persons at 
Va li met's facility and serious injury to persons in the local area. C's Exs. 46, 47, 48, 52; Tr. 
146, 188-89, 240-60, 305-09. Mr. Ross also mentioned that exposure of aluminum dust to \Vater 
will produce hydrogen gas, which could ignite in the presence of heat. Tr. 238, 284 . On the 
other hand, the evidence also shows that the facility is not in a very highly populated area, and 
only an explosion of 6,000 pounds or more of aluminum dust could cause serious injury to a 
large number of residents in the area. C's Exs. 47, 48. Respondent's evidence shows that its 
aluminum powders do not propagate combustion. R' s Ex. 27. Given the ev idence of 
l~espondcnt 's management of aluminum dust and potential ignition sources at the facility, the 
magnitude of explosions at Respondent 's facility, and the number and magnitude of explosions at 
other facilities, the risk of such a large explosion is highly unlikel y, but some ri sk docs ex ist and 
shou ld be ba lanced against the Respondent' s mitigating evidence as to the low level of tox icity . 
and sma ll amounts of releases of aluminum dust from Respondent's facility. 

The final question is hovv much reduction of' the gravity based penalty is Cl ppropriatc 
considering the testi mony and evidence presented by the parties as to ri sk of' harm . The ERP·(at 
18) provides a max imum of25 percent reduction of the penalty for "other f'aclors as jus.t icc may 
requi re." It is noted that the ERP (at 17) allows for a 25 percent reduction in the penalty i ('a 
chemical has in fact been delisted by EPA during the 1jendency of the enforcement proceeding. 
Del i sting a chemical suggests its low level of danger. to the communi ty. The level of seriousness 
or Respondent 's failure to file Form Rs for al um int.1m, that is, the relati vely lower importance to 
the colllmunity, states and f<ederal government of the information in the Form R, as reflected in 
the extremely low ri sk of harm from releases of' aluminum dust fi·om Val imet 's facil ity, merits a 
17 percent reduction in the penalties regarding aluminum dust, under "other factors as justi ce 
may require." 

G. Econ omic Ben efit of Non-compliance 

l . Complainant 's Arguments and Evidence 

Mr. Frazer mentioned that the ERP docs not provide guidel ines fo r determining economic 
benefit o f noncompliance, so he did not consider it in calculating the penalty. Tr. 96-97. 
Complainant , however, points out EPA's general policy that in order for penalties to achieve 
deterrence, they must recover the economic benefit of the noncompliance in addi tion to Cl gravity 
component. C's Brief at 46, citing C's Ex. 49 p . 4. Complainant argues that VC!limet benefi tted 
economi ca lly from its viola tions by not hiring sufficient staff to ensure complinncc wi th EPCR.A.. 
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ln. support, Complainant's financial expert witness, Mr. Shefrtz, ca lculated the economic 
benefit of Respondent's foregone wages. Ilc calculated foregone wages of $40,000 per year over 
the five years of noncompliance, adjusted for tax deduction and a compound rate for present-day 
value, would resu lt in an economic benefit of S 155,000. C's Ex . 51 p. 6; Tr. 392. 
Acknowledging Respondent's evidence that the actual wages, or salary benefit package of the 
employee Hssigncd to help Mr. Oberhol tzer was about S35,000, and considering testimony 
suggesti ng that the employee spends most of her time on EPCRA § 313 compliance matters and 
suggesti ng that tracking, reviewing and calculating chemical usage data would take much more 
than I 00 hours, Complainant urges a finding that Responden t 's economic benefit of 
noncompliance is up to $135,000. C's Brief at 48; C' s Hcply at 21 -22, citing Tr. 494-95, 152. 

2. Respondent's Arguments and Evidence 

ln response to Mr. Shefftz' testimony as to economic benefit from the savings of not 
hiring a ful l-time employee for the fi ve year violation period , or a fraction thereof~ Valimet 
asserts that any economic benefi t of its noncompliance was small, because the task of completing 
a Form R would be a small fraction or a f·ull-time employee. Assuming that filing a Form H 
takes about 50 hours, to file two Form Rs would take 100 hours or one twent ieth of a person's 
annual employment, Valimet asserts, so the economic benefit to Respondent would be about 
$ 11 ,000 for the relevant time period. R's Brier at 9- 10, 22; Tr. 409-410. rr, at most, it took one 
tenth or· a person-year to fi le the ro rm Rs, the economic benefi t would be $22,000, Respondent 
notes. 

Respondent asserts that there is no evidence that its vio lations were associated with any 
person's attempt to increase the value of their profit-sharing plan, referring to the fact that it was 
in compliance with other requirements of EPCRA . R 's Reply at I 0. Valimet refers to Mr. 
Shcfnz' testimony that it would not be efficient for a small business to hire add itional workers to 
file a Form R that requires 60 hours a year to accomplish. R 's Reply at 11, citi ng Tr. 40 I. 

3. Findings and Conclusions as to Economic Benefit of Toncompliancc 

The EPA's Genera l En forcement Po licy, GM-21, p. 3 (C's Ex. 49) provides the following 
guidance as to penalt ies in general: 

The removal of the economic benefi t of noncom pli ance only places the violator in 
the same position as he vvou ld have been i r compliance had been achieved on 
time. I3oth deterrence and f·undamental fa irncs.s requi re that the penalty i ncl udc an 
addi tional amoun t to ensure that the violator is economical ly worse off than if' he 
had obeyed the Jaw .. .. In addition, the penalty's size wi ll tend to deter other 
potential violators. 

There is no question that the penalty thus f'ar calculated significantly exceeds Complainan t's 
modification to Mr. Shentz' initial calculation of an econoniic benefi t, "up to" $ 135,000, and 
thus serves as a sufficient deterrent to any future violation by Respondent and to any other 
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potentia l violators. Therefore it is not necessary to address the Respondent 's arguments for 
lowering the economic benefi t. 

V. CALCULATION OF TIJF. PENALTY 

For Counts 1 and 3, the grav ity-based penalty of $27,500 for the violations pertai ning to 
aluminum dust for 200 1 and 2002, reduced by 12 percent for the "attitude" adjustmen t factor 
plus 17 percent for "otl1er factors as justice may requi re," for a total ·reduction of29 percent , 
yields a penalty of $19,525 for each count. 

For Counts 5 and 7, the gTavity-basecl penalty of$32,500 fo r the violations pertaining to 
alum inum dust for 2003 and 2004, reduced by 12 percent for the "attitude" adjustment factor 
plus 17 percent for "other factors as justice may requ ire," Cor a total red uction of29 percent, 
yields a penalty of$ 23,075 fo r each count. 

For Count 9, the gravity-based penal ty of $28,740 for the violation pertai ning to 
alum inum dust for 2005, reduced by 12 percent fo r the "attitude" adjustment facto r plus 17 
percent fo r "other factors as justice may require," for a total'reduct ion of29 percent, yields a 
penalty of$ 20,405 . 

For Counts 2 and 4, the gravity-based pena lty of $ 18,700 for the violations pertaining to 
copper compounds for 2001 and 2002, redt1ccd by 12 percent fo r the "attitude" adjustment factor, 
yields a penalty of$16,456 for each count. 

. For Counts 6 and 8, the gravity-based penalty of$21 ,922 for the violations pertaining to 
copper compounds for 2003 and 2004, reduced by 12 percent for the "attitude" adjustment t~1ctor, 

yields a penalty of $19,291 for each count. 

ror Count 10, the grav ity-based penalty of$19,202 (or the violation pertai ning to copper 
compounds for 2005, reduced by 12 percen t fo r the "attitude" adjustment factor, yields a penal ty 
of$ 16,897 . 

Accord ingly, the tota l penalty for the ten violat ions of' Section 3 13 of EPCRA charged in 
the Complaint is $ 193,996. 

29 



OR DEI~ 

I . For the ten (1 0) violations of the EPCRA found to have been comm itted in thi s 
proceeding, Respondent Va limet, Inc., is hereby assessed an aggregate civil penalty of 
$ 193,996.00. 

2. Payment of the ful l amount of thi s civil penalty shall be made within thirty (30) days after 
thi s l11itial Decision becomes a (ina! order under 40 C.f.R. § 22.27(c), as provided below. 
Payment shall be made by submitting a certified or cashi ers' check in the requisi te 
amount, payable to the Treasurer, Un ited States of Am erica , and mailed to: 

U.S . Envil·onmen ta l Protection Agency 
Fines and Penalties 

C incinnati Finance Center 
P.O. Box 979077 

' 
S t. Louis, MO 63 197-9000 

3. A transmitta l letter identi fying the subject case ~md the EPA docket number, as well as 
the Respondent' s name and add ress, must accompany the check; 

4. If Respondent fails to pay the penalty within the prescribed statuto ry period after entry of 
this Initial Decision, interest on the penalty may be assessed. ,)'ee, 3 I U.S.C. § 371 7; 40 
C.F.R. § 13.11; 

s.· Pursuan t to 40 C.F.R. § 22.27(c), this Initial Decis ion sha ll become a final order forty­
five (45) clays after its service upon the parties and without further proceedings unless: (1) 
a party moves to reopen the hearing within twenty (20) days after service of thi s Initi al 
Decision, pursuant to 40 C.f .R. § 22.28(a); (2) an appeal to the Environmental Appeals 
Board is taken withi n thirt y (30) days a ft er this Initial Dccisio1\ is served upon the parties 
pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.30(a) ; or (3) the Environmental Appeals Board elects, upon its 
own initiative, to review thi s Init ial Decision, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.30(b). 

Date: June 30, 2009 
Washington, D.C. 

·o 

Chief Admi nistrat ive Law Judge 
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T certify that the foregoing Initial Decision, dated June 30, 2009, was sent this day in the 
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